ALJ/KLM/mrj

Decision 99-10-057 October 21, 1999

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Application of Pacific Gas and Electric Company for Authority to Establish Post-Transition Period Electric Ratemaking Mechanisms. (U 39-E)

Application of San Diego Gas & Electric Company for Authority to Implement Post Rate Freeze Ratemaking Mechanics. (U 902-E)

Application of Southern California Edison Company (U 338-E) to: (1) Propose a Method to Determine and Implement the end of the Rate Freeze; and (2) Propose Ratemaking Mechanisms which would be in place after the end of the Rate Freeze Period. Application 99-01-016 (Filed January 15, 1999)

Application 99-01-019 (Filed January 15, 1999)

Application 99-01-034 (Filed January 15, 1999)

(See Appendix A for List of Appearances)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

Title

INTERIM OPINION	2
I. Background	2
II. Phase 1 Issues	4
A. Determining and Implementing the End of the Rate Freeze	5
1. The Mechanics of Ending of the Rate Freeze	5
2. Customer Liability for CTC for Various Customer Groups	. 10
3. Criteria for Identifying the End of the Rate Freeze	. 10
4. Valuation of Retained Generation Assets	. 17
B. Post-Transition Ratemaking and Regulatory Oversight	
1. SCE's Proposed Accounting Mechanisms	. 20
2. PG&E's Proposed Accounting Mechanisms	.23
3. The Modified TCBA	.24
4. PECA Balancing Accounts	.24
5. PG&E's Diablo Canyon ICIP Cost Recovery	25
6. Employee Transition Costs	.28
7. Oversight of Commodity Purchasing	
8. Disposition of the Reduced Capital Recovery Amount (RCRA)	
9. Mandatory Buy-Sell Obligation	
C. Revenue Allocation and Rate Design After the Rate Freeze Period	
1. Allocation of RMR Costs	
2. Allocation of Post-Transition CTC Revenue Requirement	30
3. Customer Information Regarding Transition Cost Refunds	31
D. Customer Information about the End of the Rate Freeze	
Conclusions	
Comments on the Proposed Decision	
Findings of Fact	34
Conclusions of Law	
INTERIM ORDER	39
Appendix A	
Appendix B	

INTERIM OPINION

This decision resolves issues in Phase 1 of these applications of Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), Southern California Edison Company (SCE), and San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), addressing ratemaking, accounting, and other regulatory concerns arising with the end of the "transition period" and the rate freeze prescribed by Assembly Bill (AB) 1890 for each utility.

I. Background

The utilities filed these applications at the direction of Decision (D.) 97-10-057, which stated the Commission's intent to review the ratemaking mechanisms the utilities would have in place following the rate freeze and transition period established by AB 1890. The term "rate freeze" refers to the requirement in Pub. Util. Code § 368 that sets customer rates equal to those in effect on June 10, 1996 until the end of the "transition period."¹ Pursuant to § 367, the transition period is that amount of time required for the utilities to pay off uneconomic investments in generation facilities or until December 31, 2001, whichever is sooner.² The Commission has in several decisions implemented the rather complex accounting mechanisms required to fulfill these and related provisions of AB 1890.

¹ This decision uses the terms "rate freeze" and "transition period" interchangeably. The synonymous use of these terms does not prejudge a determination of the buy/sell requirement in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

² These uneconomic investments are known as transition costs. In general, such costs must be recovered by the end of 2001, although there are certain exceptions, as delineated in §§ 367(a), 375, 376, and 381.

In these applications, the utilities propose methods for determining the end of the transition period and the ratemaking mechanisms they believe should be in place after the rate freeze.

The scoping memo issued in this proceeding broke down the review of these applications into two phases. During Phase 1, the issues are:

- whether the rate freeze will end simultaneously for all customer groups;
- whether to end the freeze on the basis of a forecast or retroactively;
- how to treat balances in each utility's existing transition cost balancing account (TCBA) and transition revenue account (TRA);
- the timing of ending the rate freeze following fulfillment of all relevant criteria;
- how to reflect market valuation of generation assets; and
- consideration of interim ratemaking mechanisms and rate design changes required to be in place on the first day of the post-transition period.

The Commission held five days of evidentiary hearings in May 1999 addressing Phase 1 issues. Active parties filed opening briefs on June 10, 1999 and reply briefs on June 21, 1999.

Following the filing of these applications, SDG&E filed an additional application, A.99-02-029, notifying the Commission of its intent to end its rate freeze on or about July 1, 1999 and proposing related ratemaking and accounting mechanisms. The Commission consolidated the application with the three previously filed applications and proceeded to review it on a schedule that recognized the short period of time available prior to July 1. With strong encouragement from the assigned Commissioner, the active parties filed a settlement that would, on an interim basis, resolve outstanding issues for SDG&E prior to their final resolution in this proceeding. The Commission adopted the settlement, with conditions, in D.99-05-051. The terms of the

settlement with respect to Phase I issues are implicitly or explicitly adopted or rejected herein on a permanent basis.

II. Phase 1 Issues

The utilities face somewhat different circumstances as they relate to relevant issues. Most obvious is that SDG&E's rate freeze ended on July 1, 1999. Because the parties and the Commission have already addressed the mechanics of this event, Phase 1 review of SDG&E's application here raises little controversy. PG&E and SCE do not expect their respective rate freeze periods to end in the immediate future.

The status of the utilities' generation assets also differs. SDG&E has disposed of all of its generation assets with the exception of its share of nuclear facilities. SCE and PG&E have not disposed of all generation assets. PG&E has stated an intent to sell all of its generating facilities except nuclear facilities, while SCE intends to retain certain generation assets. In order to determine the end of the rate freeze, the utility must have a market value for both retained and disposed assets.

The timing of the Commission's review of rate design and cost allocation for each utility also differs. PG&E has pending an application in which the Commission is conducting a complete review of such matters for the post-transition period (A.99-03-014). D.99-06-058 directed SDG&E to file a

- 4 -

similar application no later than July 25, 1999.³ The Commission has not yet required SCE to file such an application. ⁴

SCE, Western Power Trading Forum (WPTF), and Alliance for Retail Markets (ARM) filed a settlement on May 20, 1999. No party objected to the settlement, although PG&E raises concerns that the terms should not be applied to PG&E. The settlement would resolve several outstanding issues regarding how to determine the end of the rate freeze, how to implement the end of the rate freeze, and the type of information SCE must provide to interested parties prior to the end of the rate freeze. We address various elements of the settlement under topic headings in this decision.

A. Determining and Implementing the End of the Rate Freeze

1. The Mechanics of Ending of the Rate Freeze

AB 1890 established the rate freeze for each utility as a way of permitting the utility an opportunity to recover uneconomic generation costs, or "transition costs," within a specified period. Briefly, the utility draws down outstanding generation asset costs depending on the revenues remaining after paying off all other authorized costs, such as those associated with the electric distribution system, public policy programs, and transmission costs. The rate freeze ends after the utility has recovered specified generation costs, as set forth in Section 368(a):

³ Pursuant to Rule 48, the Executive Director subsequently granted SDG&E's request to file the relevant information as part of its rate design window application, to be filed November 1, 1999.

⁴ However, SCE has indicated that it plans to submit a comprehensive cost allocation and rate design proceeding in December 1999.

These (frozen) rate levels for each customer class...shall remain until the earlier of March 31, 2002, or the date on which the Commissionauthorized costs for utility generation-related assets and obligations have been fully recovered.

If specified transition costs are drawn down before the statutory end of the transition period, the Commission must establish a method for determining the date of the end of the rate freeze. PG&E and SCE propose that the end of the rate freeze be determined after the utility has had an opportunity to review past period accounts showing the extent to which uneconomic generation assets have been paid off. The Federal Executive Agencies (FEA) supports the utilities' proposal but recommends that SCE and PG&E be required to calculate the projected end of the rate freeze within 30 days after the value of their generation assets is known or can be reasonably estimated. This projection would enable competitors to plan better for the end of the rate freeze period.

ARM and WPTF propose that the rate freeze end by forecasting the date uneconomic assets will equal zero. Their common concern is that they have enough advance notice to change their systems and roll-out new products that are tied to the end of the rate freeze.

SCE and PG&E oppose the forecast method, partly on the basis that a forecast error could deprive them of recovering all uneconomic costs otherwise authorized for recovery during the transition period.

The settlement filed by SCE, ARM, and WPTF presents a compromise of these proposals. It would establish procedures for providing to interested parties estimates of the date the rate freeze will end and for implementing the end of the rate freeze. Under the settlement, SCE would file an advice letter five days following the date upon which all relevant criteria have been met. The settling parties agree that the Commission should finalize SCE's

- 6 -

post-transition period rates as early as one day following the filing but no later than 30 days after the advice letter filing date. In order to address some concerns of ARM and WPTF, the settlement would also require SCE to provide to all interested parties a quarterly forecast that estimates when the rate freeze will end. Each forecast would be in the form of a matrix and would use the most recent relevant data. Once either market valuation of SCE's remaining generation assets is known or SCE begins to record costs in the Accelerated Costs Account of its TCBA, SCE will begin to provide the matrix within 30 days following the end of each month. A copy of the settlement is attached as Appendix B. (Other provisions of the settlement are addressed in other sections of this decision.)

PG&E raises concerns that settlement provisions providing information about the end of the rate freeze should not be applied to PG&E. PG&E believes a forecast would be based on market information that is too volatile and that the forecast would therefore not be useful to competitors or customers. Instead, it proposes to file an advice letter 40 days after relevant criteria for ending the rate freeze have been met. It would provide the Commission with 40 days to review the advice letter prior to affecting the end of the rate freeze and implementing new rates. TURN describes as "mystifying" PG&E's refusal to provide a forecast of when the utility will complete its collection of uneconomic generation costs, even a forecast that is a simple estimate for which it will not be held liable.

Discussion Those portions of the settlement addressing market information, and the method for determining the date of the end of the rate freeze are reasonable. The forecasts would provide some opportunity for competitors to plan their energy marketing strategies. We are not convinced that these provisions will be in any way damaging to PG&E. Contrary to PG&E's

- 7 -

assumption, the requirement that the utility provide forecasts to interested parties does not put PG&E at risk for lost revenues. The settlement merely provides that the utility shall present information to facilitate the end of the rate freeze and the pursuit of competition in generation markets. Customers and competitors, as represented by various parties to this proceeding, may judge for themselves the value of the information provided to them.

PG&E expresses concern that it cannot forecast the end of its rate freeze because it does not have good information about the market value of its hydroelectric (hydro) assets. As we discuss in a subsequent section, the value of PG&E's hydro assets is substantial but unlikely to be final for some time. To address this concern, we will direct PG&E to provide no fewer than four estimates of the end of the rate freeze, each assuming a different value for the hydro assets. The estimates should range from the book value of the plant to three times that amount.

Paragraph 3 of the settlement provides that 60 days following a decision in Phase I of this proceeding, SCE will provide sample calculations of its new post transition rates and draft language to the Commission's Energy Division. Since the sample rates will be submitted as much as two years before the rate freeze actually ends, we believe that making a filing 60 days from the date of this Decision will be of little value. However, we do understand the necessity to facilitate an expedited review and approval of the utility's post transition rates, as well as provide ample opportunity for consumer education. Therefore, the utilities should provide sample post transition rates based on the forecasts developed after generation assets are valued. That is, pursuant to paragraph 2 of the SCE's settlement agreement, the utility will provide monthly forecasts of the rate freeze end once its remaining generation assets have been valued or it begins to record costs in the Accelerated Costs Account of the TCBA. Using the

- 8 -

monthly forecast, SCE and PG&E should provide Energy Division with proposed tariff language, including sample calculations of proposed post transition rates, preliminary statement language, and tariff provisions. An advice letter filing should be made three months prior to the earliest date estimated using the four PX price forecast scenarios. If the utilities do not end their rate freeze early, proposed methodologies and tariff provisions for ending the rate freeze should be filed in September of 2001, three months prior to the end of the rate freeze.

We agree that an advice letter filing to end the rate freeze five days following the date upon which all the criteria for ending the rate freeze have been satisfied, is a provision that promotes timely rate changes. This filing shall be a supplement to the advice letter submitted three months prior. The filing should provide the actual rates to be implemented after the rate freeze, as well as the ratemaking mechanisms authorized by this order. The advice letter implementing rate changes will become effective within 30 days of the end of the rate freeze subject to Energy Division determining the advice letter is in compliance with this and subsequent decisions. PG&E has not justified its proposal to delay implementing the end of the rate freeze for up to 80 days following its occurrence. We are not convinced that PG&E cannot implement the process presented in the settlement for SCE, wherein the utility files an advice letter within five days after relevant criteria have been met. We will therefore, adopt it for both utilities.

We herein adopt those portions of the settlement described in paragraphs 1, 2, 4, and 5 of the settlement. In a later section, we address how the utility will identify the end of the rate freeze, a matter addressed in Paragraph 3 of the settlement. These provisions apply for both SCE and PG&E.

-9-

2. Customer Liability for CTC for Various Customer Groups

All parties agree that the rate freeze period should end on the same date for all customer groups. Ending the rate freeze simultaneously for all customer groups presumes each customer group has paid the appropriate amount of transition costs through the Competition Transition Charge (CTC). Alternatively, the Commission could adjust rates going forward to recognize the utilities have collected transition costs from each customer group that may differ from the liability each customer group should assume for those costs. The parties do not agree on whether transition cost liability should be adjusted between the customer groups but generally agree that the matter is one for consideration in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

In the interim, no party opposes the utility proposals to adjust rates slightly to account for the amounts in the "firewall" memorandum accounts. Those accounts have tracked CTC exemptions associated with each customer class, pursuant to Section 367(e)(1). We adopt the firewall adjustments the utilities propose. In Phase 2, we will consider the larger issue of how to treat possible over or under collections of transition cost obligations assigned to each customer group and whether the utilities should make rate adjustments to reconcile these accounts.

3. Criteria for Identifying the End of the Rate Freeze

PG&E and SCE propose various criteria for determining the end of the rate freeze. The settlement filed by SCE, ARM, and WPTF provides for similar circumstances as they may affect SCE. The settlement provides that the end of the rate freeze will occur when several conditions are fulfilled:

- 1. The balance in the TRA is zero.
- 2. The balance in the TCBA is overcollected.
- 3. All generation-related sunk costs are recovered.

- 10 -

- 4. All generation-related regulatory assets are recovered.
- 5. SCE's remaining generation assets are "market valued."⁵

The settlement in Paragraph 11 specifies that the Commission

approve certain ratemaking treatment for "adjustments" that occur in the post-rate freeze period:

- 1. Amounts that affect all customers should be adjusted and recorded in the modified TCBA.
- 2. Amounts that affect only bundled service customers and that were not reflected in either the TRA or the PX charge/credit during the rate freeze period should be adjusted and reflected in the Purchased Electric Commodity Account or other authorized account.
- 3. Amounts that were reflected in the TRA but not the PX charge or credit during the rate freeze period should be corrected by 1) providing a one-time PX credit true-up to direct access customers and 2) adjusting the modified TCBA to the extent that this true-up would have resulted in a change to the "headroom".⁶

In addition, Paragraph 6 provides that:

"If all other criteria to end the rate freeze period have been met and an undercollection exists in SCE's TRA, the rate freeze period may end provided that the Commission authorizes SCE to transfer the TRA undercollected balance to the modified TCBA or other authorized recovery mechanism." This provision addresses that element of Paragraph 3 that identifies one criteria for determining the end of the rate freeze as that point at which the TRA balance is zero.

⁵ We address in a subsequent section of this order how the timing of market valuation influences a determination that the rate freeze is over.

⁶ "Headroom," as other Commission decisions describe, is the amount of revenue available to draw down uneconomic generating asset costs after other authorized costs have been recovered or rate elements accounted for.

PG&E proposes that the end of the rate freeze occur when similar circumstances have been fulfilled, namely, that the TRA and TCBA must be at zero or overcollected, that the market valuation process be completed, and that the Commission must have issued all decisions that might affect the amount of transition costs or other relevant costs.

The settlement and PG&E's proposals for identifying the end of the rate freeze would permit SCE and PG&E to recover certain costs after the rate freeze that were incurred during the rate freeze. That is, they seek to carry over costs entered into the TRA and the TCBA that would have been recoverable if the rate freeze had not ended. Costs could remain in these accounts for a variety of reasons. For example, during the final months before the rate freeze ends, energy costs could be high enough that revenues would not be available to allow recovery of other costs. PG&E proposes that it be permitted to carry over energy costs that are incurred but not billed until after the rate freeze, a circumstance that SDG&E anticipated in the settlement adopted in D.99-05-051. PG&E also proposes that the Commission permit it to carry over costs incurred but not authorized or recovered until after the rate freeze, such as those associated with capital additions and catastrophic events.

No party objects to these various provisions, although some parties address the mechanics of their implementation. ARM, for example, raises concerns that post-rate freeze rate changes to reconcile TRA or TCBA overcollections or undercollections be allocated to customers recognizing cost liability. It also raises concerns that the utility must not be able to prolong the rate freeze period in order to assure the TRA balance is positive. To the contrary, ARM argues that the utility should be permitted to carry over TRA or TCBA undercollections after the rate freeze period, in order to provide an incentive for the utility to end the rate freeze.

- 12 -

Discussion PG&E's proposal and certain elements of the SCE settlement that provide for how to identify the end of the rate freeze are unlawful because they would permit PG&E and SCE to carry over costs incurred during the rate freeze period until after the rate freeze. Carrying over such costs contravenes § 368(a) and § 367(a).

Section 368(a) sets rates equal to those in effect as of June 10, 1996. It further requires that these rate levels "shall remain in effect until the earlier of March 31, 2002, or the date on which the Commission-authorized costs for utility generation–related assets and obligations have been fully recovered." It also provides that "(t)he electrical corporation shall be at risk for those costs not recovered during that time period."

If the Commission were to permit a utility to carry over costs incurred during the rate freeze to the period following the rate freeze, the utility's rates from the rate freeze period would effectively exceed those in effect on June 10, 1996. Their full impact would simply be deferred to the subsequent period. A carry over from the rate freeze period would be unlawful under § 368(a).

Allowing the utility to carry over costs into the post-transition period may also violate § 367(a), which defines "transition costs" and how they may be recovered. With the exceptions enumerated in §§ 367(a) and 376, transition costs must be recovered in the nonbypassable charge (which we term the "CTC") by December 31, 2001 (for some costs, March 31, 2002) when the utility becomes liable for their recovery in competitive generation markets. The method for recovering transition costs during the rate freeze is to determine what we have referred to as "headroom." Headroom is the difference between the revenues

- 13 -

collected from the total rate and revenues that are associated with authorized costs other than transition costs.7 The amount of headroom available to pay off transition costs is therefore, dependent on the level of other rate components, such as distribution costs, transmission costs, and energy costs. Distribution and transmission costs for example are recovered through forward looking revenue requirements. Such revenue requirements are recoverable in rates during the rate freeze and those rates would continue in effect after it concludes. However, if the Commission were to defer recovery of other costs incurred during the rate freeze or costs that have not been approved for recovery, the utility might be able to recover more transition costs than the statute permits. This would occur because transition costs would have been crowded out by other authorized costs during the rate freeze. Thus, deferring recovery of such costs may increase, dollar-for-dollar, the transition costs that the utility is able to recover. Therefore, in cases where the utility is unable to recover all of its transition costs before the end of the rate freeze, deferring recovery of costs incurred during the rate freeze until afterward is unlawful under § 367(a).

We have addressed this matter in several previous decisions. D.97-10-057 found that to "accumulate balances associated with various costs or ratemaking mechanisms through the rate freeze period and then collect them at a later date" would violate AB 1890 by affecting the method it prescribes for calculating headroom. The order further finds that "Nothing in (AB 1890) would lead us to conclude that the rate freeze merely represents a period during which ratepayers and shareholders will lend funds to each other." D.97-11-073 states "Consistent with AB 1890, costs incurred during the rate freeze period must be recovered

⁷ The TRA is the accounting mechanism used to calculate this difference.

during that period by changing the 'headroom' available to draw down transition costs." Similarly, D.97-11-074 found that "To the extent headroom is insufficient to address any ECAC or ERAM undercollections, these amounts may not be carried over to later years for transition cost recovery, nor are such costs to be accumulated for later collection. The rate freeze is just that – a freeze, rather than a deferral." D.98-03-059 further specified that no exceptions are permitted even where a shortfall occurs as a result of regulatory delays or other circumstances outside the utility's control. We again confirmed this finding in approving a settlement for SDG&E in D.99-05-051. No party has applied for rehearing of the statutory interpretations in any of these orders and we have heard no argument to convince us that our previous orders erred in their interpretations of the law.

AB 1890 creates a rate freeze period during which the utility must live with the revenues it receives, which fluctuate according to sales. AB 1890 does not provide exceptions to the rate freeze on the basis that the utility may not have collected all the revenues it anticipated or failed to recover otherwise reasonable costs. AB 1890 allows recovery of transition costs by way of a nonbypassable surcharge, but also imposes certain risks with regard to the rate freeze. We may not overlook the law's intent in order to hasten the end of the rate freeze. We may not ignore the law even if no party objects to proposals that contravene it, or by finding that the law does not serve other regulatory objectives.

No utility may carry over any costs from the TRA or the TCBA or any other account from costs incurred during the rate freeze period into the post rate freeze period. The TRA need not be zero or overcollected for the rate freeze to end. Any provision of the SCE settlement proposed here that assumes ratemaking adjustments during the post-rate freeze period for costs incurred during the rate freeze period is unlawful and is rejected. Any provision of the

- 15 -

settlement adopted in D.99-05-051 for SDG&E that permits such a carry over is also unlawful and is therefore void. Likewise, the utilities may not carry over any balances into the post-rate freeze period, including those related to PX "billing lags."⁸ Moreover, the Commission will not delay the end of the rate freeze to resolve pending proceedings in which the utilities seek authority to recover such costs.

The end of the rate freeze occurs on the date the utility has recovered "commission-authorized costs for utility generation-related assets and obligations," as set forth in § 368(a) and with the exceptions and conditions set forth in § 367 and 376. This is the sole criterion for determining the end of the rate freeze. Each utility will determine the date of the end of the rate freeze and implement the end of the rate freeze pursuant to the process adopted in Section II.A.1 of this decision. The CTC refund at issue with relation to the termination of their respective rate freezes is the difference between the amount of the CTC which the utilities were authorized to collect in order to recover the costs of their uneconomic generation costs during the rate freeze and the amounts which they actually collected during that period. In recognition that rate design and cost allocation may change after the rate freeze, refunds shall be allocated to customer groups in the same proportion as they were collected, as SCE proposes. In order to assure the utility is indifferent with regard to the timing of refunds, refunds shall accrue interest equal to the utility's authorized rate of return.

⁸ "PX billing lags" are caused by seasonal demand variations and PX price fluctuations, and the time lag inherent in reconciling PX price differences through billing in later periods. For example, in D.99-05-051, we observed that SDG&E had accumulated an under-collection of approximately \$40 million due to the PX billing lag.

4. Valuation of Retained Generation Assets

Section 367(b) requires that the Commission offset specified transition costs having values below market prices with those generation assets having values above market prices. The difference is the amount of net transition costs that qualify for recovery by way of a nonbypassable surcharge. Section 367(b) provides that market valuations must be complete by December 31, 2001. In determining whether the utilities have recovered all authorized transition costs, and have therefore, met the criteria for ending the rate freeze, the utility must therefore, know or estimate the value of all generation assets. The Commission has not yet established market values for those assets which SCE and PG&E intend to retain. ⁹

PG&E argues that the most critical event in determining the date of the end of its rate freeze period is the valuation of its hydroelectric assets. The timing of and method for finalizing these values is uncertain. PG&E believes the valuation must be accomplished according to § 367(b), that is, by "appraisal, sale, or other divestiture." It does not support any type of interim valuation method or forecast.

The settlement filed by SCE, ARM, and WPTF provides that the end of the rate freeze would not occur until the Commission has valued SCE's retained generation assets. ARM expresses support for Enron's proposal in the Commission's retained asset proceeding, A.98-05-014 et al., to establish an interim method for such valuation. ORA does not believe the completion of the

⁹ SDG&E divested itself of all generation assets except nuclear assets and therefore does not require the Commission to establish market valuation. This may still be an open question in market valuation proceeding, ORA has argued that nuclear facilities have <u>not</u> been "market valued."

valuation process is a necessary condition to ending the rate freeze. It proposes that any premiums that are identified after the rate freeze could be credited back to ratepayers after the end of the rate freeze.

The timing of market valuations is critical in cases where those valuations might accelerate the end of the rate freeze to a date prior to the statutory deadline. For PG&E, at least, this appears be the case. The book value of its hydro assets is approximately \$1.4 billion and some estimates of their market value exceed \$4 billion. Currently, the Commission is considering the matter for both SCE and PG&E in A.98-05-014 and A.98-05-022, respectively. For SCE, we intend to issue a decision on the matter so that the end of the rate freeze would not be delayed. For PG&E, the ultimate disposition of hydro assets may depend on action of the California Legislature. Nevertheless, we intend to move forward with valuation of those assets so that the end of the rate freeze will not be delayed in the event that legislative action does not affect either PG&E's options or the Commission's discretion in relevant aspects. Accordingly, we find that interim or final market valuations, to the extent they remain the Commission's responsibility, will precede the end of the rate freeze. If legislation or other events dictate a different approach, we will revisit the matter.

B. Post-Transition Ratemaking and Regulatory Oversight

The utilities and other parties propose several changes to ratemaking after the rate freeze period. These changes would recognize that the utilities would no longer charge a single frozen rate, i.e., that rates and the ratemaking mechanisms for collecting revenues may change.

During the rate freeze period, the Commission approved a conceptual ratemaking model for SCE, PG&E and SDG&E. The TRA is an account that tracks all utility costs and revenues. Another account, the TCBA,

tracks authorized transition costs and how these costs are recovered by way of the CTC on customer bills. From the total revenues the utility collects, the utility deducts authorized costs associated with distribution, transmission, energy, public policy programs, and other costs. Revenues left over (i.e. positive balances in the TRA) are used to credit the TCBA and are referred to as "headroom." In addition, the TCBA is credited or debited with positive or negative market valuations of generation assets. The utilities will be at risk for recovering those generation investments they have been unable to recover with frozen rates.

After the rate freeze period, the total rate on a customer's bill, for all services, may change for a variety of reasons. The utilities will continue to recover certain costs via the CTC and track them in the TCBA. The utilities will not recover those costs, however, by calculating revenues left over after other costs have been recovered. The costs will be included in rates at levels authorized by the Commission and with the intent the utilities will not be at risk for their recovery, consistent with AB 1890.

Following the rate freeze, the TRA will serve no function because the utilities will not need a method for calculating headroom. They will, however, need to continue to account for authorized costs, such as those associated with distribution, nuclear decommissioning, public purpose programs, and energy costs. The Commission will either ultimately determine the utility's risk for recovering such costs or has already adopted such ratemaking mechanisms.¹⁰ For example, both SCE and SDG&E have performance-based ratemaking mechanisms in place for distribution costs. The Commission is currently

¹⁰ The FERC has authority over ratemaking for all transmission costs.

considering a similar type of ratemaking for PG&E's distribution costs. The Commission will need to determine how to regulate energy commodity prices in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

The following discussion describes the utilities' proposals for accounting mechanisms that would be in place after the rate freeze, some of which would be interim and others which may be in place for the foreseeable future.

1. SCE's Proposed Accounting Mechanisms

SCE proposes to eliminate its TRA and to create in its place six new balancing accounts so that "SCE recovers neither more nor less than its authorized revenue requirement." The accounts for which SCE seeks approval are:

- a. PBR Exclusion Distribution Adjustment Mechanism this account would permit recovery of nine items the Commission has already determined are not subject to SCE's PBR mechanism.
- b. Nuclear Decommissioning Adjustment Mechanism this account would permit recovery of nuclear decommissioning costs as authorized by the Legislature and the Commission.
- c. Public Purpose Programs Adjustment Mechanism this account would permit SCE to recover, through the end of 2001, 17 cost items that are currently in rates pursuant to Commission orders. The account would continue to track the costs through that date in case the rate freeze ends before then and afterward if the Commission authorizes continued funding.
- d. Reliability Must-Run (RMR) Balancing Account this account would recover RMR costs incurred pursuant to FERC orders.
- e. Catalina Island Diesel Fuel Balancing Account this account would permit SCE to recover fuel costs incurred to serve Santa Catalina Island and which it cannot recover through sales to the PX because Santa Catalina is not on the grid that provides PX power.

SCE also proposes to eliminate the Streamlining Residual Account that was created pursuant D.97-10-057 to record certain energy costs that may be recovered in other accounts SCE proposes. It would also establish a rate for rate reduction bond refunds to customers and retain the account that collects funds to pay off the rate reduction bonds.

SCE states the accounts it would create are not new ratemaking mechanisms, and do not change SCE's risks, but merely replace the existing accounts at the end of the rate freeze. We accept this characterization but comment that SCE should have informed the Commission that it seeks to modify another decision. Adding Affiliate Transfer Fees to the PBR Exclusion Account, as SCE proposes, will require modification of D.96-09-092, which adopted SCE's PBR mechanism. Contrary to SCE's testimony, D.97-12-088 (the order adopting the affiliate transactions rules) did not authorize this change to SCE's PBR tariffs. SCE's proposal appears nevertheless reasonable and consistent with the intent of D.97-12-088, provided that Affiliate Transfer Fees continue to be tracked in their own sub-account.

No party opposes the creation of the accounts or the elimination of the TRA. We authorize SCE to eliminate the TRA and the Streamlining Residual Account, at the end of the rate freeze recognizing that these accounts are not required after the rate freeze period. The disposition of any non-zero balance in the Streamlining Residual Account will be addressed in Phase 2.

We adopt the balancing accounts SCE proposes with some exceptions and clarifications. First, the accounts are intended to provide an interim method for collecting only those revenues authorized by the Commission. Our authorization of the accounts is not an endorsement of the implied ratemaking concepts, i.e., the accounts may be replaced by other

- 21 -

ratemaking mechanisms depending on the outcome of Phase 2 of this proceeding or actions in other dockets.

We also comment on the Catalina Island Diesel Fuel Balancing Account. The adoption of the account implies the creation of an associated new rate to be imposed on Catalina Island customers. The rate would differ from those in effect for other SCE customers. That is, Catalina Island rates will be based on the cost of serving the local area, rather than on the average cost of SCE's entire system a convention called "geographic deaveraging." We have in other decisions addressed the merits and shortcomings of geographic deaveraging, but have so far declined to implement it. In this circumstance, the rate may be justified on the basis that serving Catalina Island is more expensive than serving other communities. More importantly, in SCE's view, this rate permits SCE to recover fuel costs which it cannot recover through the PX because Catalina Island is not connected to the grid served by the PX. Its power is generated locally and can only be sold locally because of the Island's physical isolation. The effect of setting a separate rate for Catalina Island is to increase rates of local residents and businesses. SCE has not notified its Catalina Island customers of its proposal to increase their rates. Section 454 provides that a utility proposing a rate change must notify affected customers of its proposal. Because SCE has not provided that customer notice, we cannot authorize a rate increase here and decline to authorize the associated account.

We do not herein authorize any accounts or ratemaking mechanisms for RMR costs. SCE must receive such authority from FERC to recover those costs, consistent with our findings in D.98-04-019. With these exceptions, we adopt the accounting SCE proposes for the post-transition period.

- 22 -

2. PG&E's Proposed Accounting Mechanisms

Like SCE, PG&E proposes to eliminate the TRA because it will not serve any purpose after the transition period. It also proposes to create several new accounts:

- a. Nuclear Decommissioning Adjustment Mechanism this account would permit recovery of nuclear decommissioning costs as authorized by the Legislature and the Commission.
- b. Public Purpose Programs Revenue Adjustment Mechanism this account would permit recovery of public purpose program revenue requirements.
- c. Transmission Revenue Requirement Reclassification Memorandum Account (TRRMA) -- this account would record costs which the FERC determines are not recoverable through transmission rates.

PG&E also proposes to establish rate components for costs that, during the rate freeze, were collected as part of distribution rates, for example costs associated with hazardous waste cleanup, and electric vehicle development. It would establish a rate for rate reduction bond refunds to customers and retain the account that collects funds to pay off the rate reduction bonds.

With the exception of the TRRMA, neither the rates nor the accounts PG&E would create change PG&E's risk or existing Commission ratemaking orders. They merely replace the existing accounts at the end of the rate freeze and establish rates for costs which PG&E is already entitled to recover. However, with regard to the TRRMA, we note that the Commission approved this account in Resolution E-3574. PG&E may record in this account costs that FERC finds are not related to transmission, and it may begin tracking these costs as of July 1, 1999 according to Commission authorized tariffs. We do not make any judgment here as to whether the costs tracked in this account are reasonable. Nor do we decide here whether these costs should be excluded from PG&E's

PBR mechanism as it proposes. That is an issue for resolution in PG&E's PBR proceeding, A.98-11-023. With these clarifications, we adopt the accounting mechanisms and ratemaking proposals PG&E presents on an interim basis, pending final resolution in Phase 2.

3. The Modified TCBA

PG&E and SCE propose to retain their TCBAs in order to be able to recover transition costs for which customers will be liable after the rate freeze. SCE states the TCBA will include only those costs that the Commission has identified for recovery after December 31, 2001. FEA notes that the appropriateness of each TCBA subaccount should be addressed in Phase 2 of this proceeding. We adopt the utilities' proposal to retain the TCBAs for the purpose of accounting for costs that the Commission has authorized for recovery after the rate freeze and pursuant to § 367. Consistent with our previous discussion we clarify that the utilities may not use the TCBA to carry over costs incurred during the rate freeze or transition period. FEA and other parties may address related accounting and ratemaking issues in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

4. PECA Balancing Accounts

SCE, SDG&E, and PG&E propose a new balancing account called the "Purchased Electric Commodity Account," (PECA)¹¹ to reconcile commodity rates and costs incurred for electricity purchased from the PX or other market sources. The utility would reconcile energy costs and customer rates on a

¹¹ SDG&E originally named its account the ISO/PX Balancing Account. SCE originally named its account the Energy Cost Adjustment Mechanism. Both agree that the name of the account is irrelevant and suggest using PG&E's term, "PECA."

monthly basis. The amounts would be amortized in subsequent rates using an equal cents per kWh rate. FEA supports the creation of the account.

Weil opposes adoption of the PECA as part of the Phase 1 order, arguing that PG&E failed to provide adequate information regarding how the account would operate. Weil also believes the matter should be considered in light of broader ratemaking mechanisms that are topics of Phase 2, including matters relating to how energy price volatility should be addressed. Weil is concerned other parties have not had an adequate opportunity to review utility proposals. ORA also advocates the Commission consider the matter further in Phase II of this proceeding.

We agree that the utilities will need to have some mechanism in place for the end of the rate freeze period which will track the utility's energy costs. Accordingly, we adopt the PECA for all three applicants. We will explore in Phase 2 whether dollar-for-dollar recovery of such costs is appropriate and related ratemaking issues, as Weil and ORA propose. We also adopt the clarification ORA suggests, finding that the purpose of the PECA accounts is to track the costs of purchased electricity, not the costs of operating power plants.

5. PG&E's Diablo Canyon ICIP Cost Recovery

In D.97-05-088, the Commission provided for accelerated recovery of Diablo Canyon sunk capital costs. The Commission adopted an associated revenue requirement for each of the five years 1997 through 2001, called the "Incremental Cost Incentive Price" (ICIP). PG&E recovers the difference between the PX price and the ICIP as part of transition cost recovery.

ORA and FEA believe that the Commission intended for this revenue requirement to change, and for Diablo Canyon cost recovery to end on either the earlier of December 31, 2001 or the date PG&E has recovered its Diablo

- 25 -

Canyon sunk costs. PG&E, to the contrary, believes the Commission intended for the pricing mechanism to continue until December 31, 2001, notwithstanding the status of cost recovery.

Discussion In D.97-05-088, the Commission created a ratemaking mechanism to permit PG&E an opportunity to recover sunk costs associated with Diablo Canyon. D.95-12-063 ordered PG&E to file its proposal for ratemaking treatment for Diablo Canyon. The Commission stated on page 129, that:

"Ongoing transition costs will be calculated as that portion of the settlement payments in excess of market value, as determined by the Power Exchange price. <u>The calculation will be performed over the</u> <u>term of the settlement or until transition cost recovery is</u> <u>completed.</u>" (Emphasis added)

The order states the purpose of the associated proceeding is, in part, to provide PG&E "the opportunity to recover all of Diablo Canyon's competition transition costs (transition costs or CTCs) no later than the end of 2005 (later reduced by the Legislature to December 31, 2001)." (D.97-05-088, slip op., page 3.)

The decision goes on to describe the recovery of transition costs (or uneconomic generation costs) in the context of the rate freeze period mandated by AB 1890. Stating "this Diablo Canyon application …is the vehicle for evaluating and adopting appropriate modifications to PG&E's proposed rate freeze and ratemaking mechanism," the decision cites portions of §§ 367 and 368 regarding the recovery of generation assets according to the rate freeze the provisions of the statutes. The decision finds these sections to be "most pertinent to this decision…" (Id., pp: 11-13.)

As we have already discussed, the rate freeze mechanism provides that when the uneconomic generation costs are paid off, the regulatory protection

- 26 -

provided by the statute in the form of the CTC is eliminated. Using the legislation as a frame of reference in developing the ICIP, therefore, suggests our intent that when Diablo Canyon transition (or sunk) costs are paid off, the corresponding funding will also end.

In fact, D.97-05-088, Finding of Fact 2 states that ICIP is a "mechanism for recovery of incremental operating costs <u>during the period of accelerated sunk</u> <u>cost recovery</u>." (Emphasis added). Conclusion of Law 1 reiterates this point by highlighting the link between ICIP payments and the sunk cost recovery period.

By proposing to continue the ICIP after the rate freeze period, PG&E suggests, to the contrary, that the intent of D.97-05-088 was to permit PG&E to continue to receive funding even after all of its relevant Diablo Canyon costs are paid off. Thus, PG&E would receive the difference between the ICIP rate (in amounts just under 3-1/2 cents) and the market rate even though all related costs have been recovered. Such an arrangement, however, is directly contrary to the intent of D.97-05-088. Indeed, PG&E's proposal here is inconsistent with the purpose of its original application in which it proposed "to recover its remaining Diablo Canyon sunk costs over a depreciation period of five years or less." (D.97-05-088, slip op., page 33.) Nothing in the order suggests the Commission intended to deny this request by granting PG&E revenues that exceed costs.

PG&E argues that this interpretation could not be correct because various portions of the decision refer to the ICIP's provisions lasting until December 31, 2001, rather than the earlier of that date and the date upon which Diablo Canyon sunk costs are zero. At the time the Commission issued D.97-05-088, the Commission was in the early stages of implementing AB 1890. In deference to the rate freeze provisions of AB 1890, D.97-05-088 refers consistently to the five-year period ending December 31, 2001 when describing or ordering implementation. We assumed at the time that PG&E's rate freeze

- 27 -

might extend to that date and that Diablo Canyon sunk costs would not be recovered prior to that date. Since May 1997, we have received better information about the status of PG&E's generation assets, to suggest that PG&E's rate freeze may end prior to December 31, 2001.

We deny PG&E's proposal to extend the ICIP payments beyond the end of the rate freeze period.

6. Employee Transition Costs

Weil expresses concern that PG&E's proposal regarding employee transition costs ignores that all such costs must be determined to be reasonable before they may be included in rates. We concur and find that any ratemaking treatment adopted herein that may involve employee transition costs assumes that such costs will be only those determined by the Commission to be reasonable.

7. Oversight of Commodity Purchasing

PG&E proposes that any purchases through the PX after the transition period should be presumed reasonable. Weil objects to the assumption, suggesting PG&E may have several purchasing options and those options should be subject to some Commission oversight, either by way of reasonable reviews or through some performance-based incentive. ORA offers similar comments, observing that incentive ratemaking mechanisms are subjects of review in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

We agree with ORA and Weil that this is not the forum in which we are prepared to modify regulatory oversight of energy purchasing decisions. We will consider the matter further in Phase 2. In the unlikely event that PG&E will be able to take advantage of purchasing options before the matter is resolved, we

state our intent to conduct reviews of such purchases until and unless we expressly adopt some other type of oversight.

8. Disposition of the Reduced Capital Recovery Amount (RCRA)

In D.94-05-068, the Commission authorized the acceleration of SCE's recovery of nuclear investment by \$75 million per year while simultaneously reducing SCE's distribution revenue requirement. Originally, the Commission anticipated that this mechanism would be in place until 2012 when SCE's nuclear investments would be paid off. AB 1890, however, further accelerated depreciation of those investments. In recognition of this, SCE proposes here to eliminate the RCRA at the end of the rate freeze. No party opposed this proposal and we adopt it here since the RCRA will serve no purpose after SCE has recovered its nuclear costs.

9. Mandatory Buy-Sell Obligation

Several parties addressed the issue of whether the utilities should continue to be obligated to purchase from the PX after the rate freeze ends. Consistent with the scope of this phase of this proceeding, we herein find that the utilities must continue to purchase energy supplies from the PX until and unless we change this policy in Phase 2 of this proceeding or in subsequent dockets. We note that we have recently affirmed this approach in D.99-07-018. We need not address the matter further at this time. We also defer review of the types of services the PX offers and their implications for utility purchasing.

C. Revenue Allocation and Rate Design After the Rate Freeze Period

1. Allocation of RMR Costs

TURN proposes that RMR costs be allocated in a manner consistent with their underlying characteristics, that is, based on coincident loads and recognizing that RMR is associated with "bulk" transmission needs rather than

- 29 -

local needs. Edison's proposal to allocate RMR costs using a Peak Capacity Allocation Factor is consistent with TURN's recommendation. TURN opposes SDG&E and PG&E's proposal to allocate RMR costs assuming that they are incurred to meet "local" generation needs. SDG&E comments that, on its system, RMR are essentially a substitute for transmission and should be allocated accordingly. CLECA supports the utility proposals.

We have consistently stated since the passage of AB 1890 that the Commission has no jurisdiction over the level of transmission rates. The FERC has sole jurisdiction over those matters. D.98-04-019 directed the utilities to present FERC with proposals for post-transition cost recovery. We therefore, make no findings here regarding how RMR costs should be allocated and defer to the FERC on all related issues.

2. Allocation of Post-Transition CTC Revenue Requirement

After the rate freeze period, customers will continue to assume liability for certain transition costs, mostly those associated with high-cost QF contracts. PG&E, SDG&E, and SCE propose to use the System Average Percent (SAP) method to allocate ongoing transition costs between customer groups, an allocation method that reflects the EPMC methodology used to establish frozen rates. CLECA and CMA concur with this allocation. FEA and ORA express support with the condition that the method should be interim, pending the resolution of the issue in Phase 2. TURN, however, opposes the utilities' proposed use of a System Average Percent Change (SAPC) allocation methodology. TURN proposes the Commission require the utilities to allocate post-transition CTC revenue requirement depending on each customer group's proportional use of the generation system. In the event that the utilities end their rate freeze before a final decision is reached on this matter in Phase 2, we instruct the utilities to allocate ongoing CTC using the SAPC methodology on an interim basis. We will consider this issue in Phase 2 as it affects the period following the rate freeze.

3. Customer Information Regarding Transition Cost Refunds

As stated earlier, any overcollections of CTC must be refunded to customers. In anticipation of such a circumstance, Paragraph 5 of the settlement between SCE, ARM, and WPTF provides that SCE will separately state in its tariff the portion of the post-transition CTC that is related to the refund of transition cost overcollections. PG&E objects to this provision because "the Commission should not create a requirement to satisfy the needs of contracts generated between ESPs (energy service providers) and customers which are not regulated by the Commission."

The availability of pricing information is essential to the development of competitive markets. Part of the Commission's job is to ensure that good pricing information is available to customers, especially in a circumstance, such as here, where that information could be easily misunderstood. Transition cost refunds will accrue to customers whether they are bundled utility customers or direct access customers. Customers need to understand the extent to which the refunds offset utility energy prices in order to make meaningful comparisons between the price of utility energy and the price of competitors' energy. In order to facilitate customers' ability to compare energy prices, we adopt Paragraph 5 and require all three utilities to incorporate its requirements in tariffs.

- 31 -

D. Customer Information about the End of the Rate Freeze

The parties addressed how customers should be informed of the end of the rate freeze. ORA recommends the Commission staff work closely with the utilities in developing educational materials for customers. ORA observes that SDG&E's program, implemented in mid-1999, may provide some insights for SCE and PG&E.

SCE proposes that the Commission articulate communications objectives and permit the utilities to fashion their customer communications as they see fit. SCE agrees with SDG&E, as expressed in comments to the proposed decision in A.99-02-029, that Commission oversight of customer communications is "presumed" to be unconstitutional.

We have traditionally overseen the types of information the utilities provide to customers when the information concerns our regulatory oversight. In this case, customers require a simple and complete explanation of an event that is subject to considerable misinterpretation and for which the utility has little incentive to be clear. No utility has so far challenged our authority to require it to coordinate customer information efforts with the Commission's Public Advisor, including SDG&E whose customer information was subject to the Public Advisor's approval pursuant to D.99-05-051. We see no reason to depart from past practice and herein direct PG&E and SCE to seek the approval of the Office of the Public Advisor prior to disseminating customer information regarding the end of the rate freeze.

Conclusions

We herein adopt several policies that would facilitate the end of the rate freeze for PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E, including interim accounting and ratemaking arrangements.

- 32 -

- The rate freeze will end simultaneously for all customer groups; the treatment of possible over or under collection of transition cost obligations for customer groups is deferred to Phase 2.
- The rate freeze ends on the date relevant transition cost balances are zero.
- No utility may carry over costs incurred during the rate freeze period to the post-rate freeze period, notwithstanding the status of the TRA, relevant Commission proceedings, or PX billings.
- After the rate freeze, the utilities may not recover costs incurred during the rate freeze.
- PG&E and SCE will provide to interested parties estimates of the date the rate freeze will end as set forth in the settlement attached to this document as Appendix A.
- Once forecasts are generated on a 30-day basis (after generation assets have been market-valued), the utilities shall provide the Energy Division draft tariff language and proposed post rate freeze rates three months prior to the earliest estimate of the rate freeze end. In the event that the rate freeze does not end early, proposed post rate freeze rates should be filed in September 2001.
- PG&E and SCE shall file a supplement to the advice letter filed three months prior, to end the rate freeze five days following the date that the relevant criteria have been satisfied as set forth in this decision and the settlement attached as Appendix A.
- The end of the rate freeze will not occur before the generation assets of each utility have been "market valued" except as the law or the Commission determine otherwise.
- PG&E may not extend the ICIP mechanism past the date it has recovered its transition costs.
- PG&E, SDG&E, and SCE will implement interim accounting, ratemaking mechanisms, and rate design changes as proposed or as modified by this decision.
- The Commission defers to FERC's authority with regard to costs, cost allocation, and rate design for transmission and RMR costs and revenues.

- PG&E and SCE will propose to the Commission's Public Advisor methods for informing customers about the end of the rate freeze.
- PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E will use the SAPC method for allocating ongoing CTC on an interim basis, if the rate freeze ends before a final decision is reached in Phase 2.
- PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E will create accounting mechanisms for energy purchases from the ISO/PX, purchases which the Commission will continue to oversee unless the Commission determines otherwise.
- SCE's proposal to create a new and separate rate for Santa Catalina Island customers is denied because affected customers have not received the notice required by Section 454.
- PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E will continue to purchase all energy supplies from and sell all energy supplies to the PX unless the Commission determines otherwise.

This proceeding will remain open for consideration of issues in Phase 2.

Comments on the Proposed Decision

The assigned ALJ issued this decision for public comment in accordance with Section 311(d) of the Public Utilities Code. The Commission made several modifications to the proposed decision to clarify its intent but made no substantive changes.

Findings of Fact

1. Utility forecasts of the date of the end of the rate freeze will not put the utility at risk for revenue losses but may be useful to customers and competitors in planning for changes in the market.

2. PG&E's forecasts of the end of the rate freeze would be more useful to customers and competitors if PG&E used several estimates of the market value of its hydro assets.

3. SCE's settlement, attached as Appendix A, should be modified as set forth herein to provide for a fair and timely process for filing an advice letter to end the rate freeze.

4. Consistent with § 367(e)(1), SCE and PG&E have "firewall" memorandum accounts that result in slight rate adjustments between customer groups at the end of the rate freeze.

5. SCE, SDG&E, PG&E, and parties to the settlement filed in this proceeding propose that we permit SCE, SDG&E, and PG&E to carry over after the rate freeze period certain costs incurred during the rate freeze period. Permitting such carry overs defers recovery of costs and effectively allows rates that exceed the rate freeze levels. Permitting such carry overs may also affect the level of transition costs the utility recovers.

6. The Commission intends that its market valuation process will be complete in time for the end of SCE's rate freeze and PG&E's rate freeze.

7. Utility accounting must change after the end of the rate freeze in recognition that the utility need no longer account for "headroom."

8. SCE proposes in this proceeding to create a new rate for Santa Catalina, but has not notified affected customers, as required by § 454.

9. PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E propose that the Commission adopt allocation of and ratemaking for transmission and RMR costs. The Commission should make no findings here regarding how RMR costs should be allocated and defer to the FERC on all related issues.

10. D.97-05-088 did not intend for PG&E to recover ICIP rates following complete recovery of generation transition costs. The intent of D.97-05-088 was to permit PG&E to recover Diablo Canyon transition costs.

11. Section 367(e)(1) narrowly circumscribes the Commission's authority to provide for allocation of CTC between customer groups for the rate freeze period.
A.99-01-016 et al. ALJ/KLM/mrj *

12. Requiring the utility to separately state in its tariff the portion of the post-transition CTC that is related to the refund of transition cost overcollections facilitates customer understanding of actual market prices.

13. Requiring Commission staff approval of utility customer information materials helps assure that customer receive sound information about changes in the electricity market that may occur with the end of the rate freeze.

Conclusions of Law

1. The Commission should adopt and apply to SCE and PG&E those portions of the settlement relating to the provision of utility forecasts, the advice letter process, the determination of the end of the rate freeze, and the refund of overcollected CTC as set forth in Appendix A, paragraphs 1, 2, 4, and 5 with the exceptions set forth herein.

2. SCE and PG&E should end the rate freeze simultaneously for all customer groups and adjust rates to account for amounts in the "firewall" memorandum accounts. The determination of whether transition cost liability should be adjusted for each customer class should be resolved in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

3. Carrying over balances related to the "PX lag" or other unrecovered costs in the TRA or the TCBA violates the rate freeze provisions of AB 1890. Delaying the end of the rate freeze in order to resolve pending Commission proceedings addressing costs incurred during the rate freeze contravenes AB 1890.

4. Sections 368(a) and 367(a) do not permit the utilities to carry over after the rate freeze those costs incurred during the rate freeze. Exceptions to the rate freeze that are not specifically enumerated in AB 1890 are not lawful.

5. The end of the rate freeze should occur on the date that the utility has recovered relevant transition costs, consistent with §§ 367 and 368 of AB 1890.

- 36 -

A.99-01-016 et al. ALJ/KLM/mrj **

6. Once forecasts are generated on a 30-days basis (i.e., after generation assets have been market-valued), PG&E and SCE should be ordered to file an advice letter with the proposed post rate freeze rates and tariff language three months prior to the earliest estimate of the rate freeze end. In the event that the rate freeze does not end early, proposed post rate freeze rates should be filed in September 2001.

7. Five days following the date that transition costs have been collected and the criteria for ending the rate freeze have been met, PG&E and SCE should be ordered to file a supplement to the advice letter filed three months prior. The supplement shall include the actual post rate freeze rates to be implemented as well as the ratemaking mechanisms authorized in this order.

8. SCE, PG&E, and SDG&E should be ordered to refund to customers the difference between the amount of the CTC which the utilities were authorized to collect in order to recover the costs of their uneconomic generation costs during the rate freeze and the amounts which they actually collected during that period. In recognition that rate design and cost allocation may change after the rate freeze, each utility should be ordered to allocate refunds to customer groups in the same proportion as they were collected. Refunds should accrue interest equal to the utility's authorized rate of return.

9. The Commission should adopt the accounting and ratemaking mechanisms proposed by the utilities in this proceeding with the conditions and exceptions set forth herein.

10. The Commission should reject SCE's proposal to create a new rate and associated balancing account for Santa Catalina customers because SCE has not notified affected customers as required by § 454.

- 37 -

A.99-01-016 et al. ALJ/KLM/mrj *

11. The Commission should reject utility proposals that would establish rate design or other ratemaking or accounting mechanisms for transmission or RMR costs.

12. In Phase 2 of this proceeding, the parties should be permitted to consider refinements to the accounting and ratemaking proposals adopted in this decision.

13. PG&E should be required to eliminate the ICIP no later than the date it recovers transition costs.

14. The Commission should continue to oversee utility purchasing practices and should not in this order modify the mandatory "buy-sell" obligation.

15. In the event that the rate freeze ends early, PG&E and SCE should be ordered to allocate CTC using a SAPC methodology until a final decision is reached in Phase 2.

16. SCE, SDG&E, and PG&E should be ordered to state separately, in their respective tariffs, the portion of the post-transition CTC that is related to the refund of transition cost overcollections.

17. SCE and PG&E should be required to coordinate with the Commission's Public Advisor in developing their respective customer information materials.

INTERIM ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that:

1. No later than 15 days from the date this order is issued, San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E) shall file an advice letter proposing tariff modifications that implement the provisions of this order. Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) and Southern California Edison Company (SCE) shall file an advice letter three months prior to the earliest forecasted date that the rate freeze will end or September 2001 if the rate freeze does not end early. The Advice Letter shall propose tariff modifications and provide calculations of proposed post rate freeze rates. Five days following the date that transition costs have been collected and the criteria for ending the rate freeze have been met, PG&E and SCE shall file a supplement to the advice letter filed three months prior. The supplement shall include the actual post rate freeze rates to be implemented as well as the ratemaking mechanisms authorized in this order. The Advice Letter implementing rate changes shall become effective within 30 days of the end of the rate freeze subject to Energy Division determining the Advice Letter is in compliance with this and subsequent decisions.

2. The tariffs proposed by the advice letters shall not be modified except as required by this order, as follows:

- The rate freeze shall end on the date relevant transition cost balances are zero.
- No utility may carry over costs incurred during the rate freeze period to the post-rate freeze period, notwithstanding the status of the Transition Revenue Account (TRA), relevant Commission proceedings or Power Exchange (PX) billings, as set forth herein.

- The rate freeze for SCE and PG&E shall end simultaneously for all customer groups although the issue of how the utilities will treat transition cost liabilities among customer groups is deferred to Phase 2.
- PG&E and SCE shall provide to interested parties estimates of the date the rate freeze will end and file advice letters to effectuate the end of the rate freeze as set forth herein.
- For PG&E and SCE, the end of the rate freeze shall not occur before the generation assets of each utility have been market-valued except as the law or the Commission determines otherwise.
- SCE, PG&E, and SDG&E shall refund to customers the difference between the amount of the CTC which the utilities were authorized to collect in order to recover the costs of their uneconomic generation costs during the rate freeze and the amounts which they actually collected during that period. Each utility shall allocate refunds to customer groups in the same proportion as they were collected. Refunds shall accrue interest equal to the utility's authorized rate of return.
- PG&E shall not extend the Incremental Cost Incentive Price mechanism past the date it has recovered its transition costs.
- PG&E, SDG&E, and SCE shall implement interim ratemaking mechanisms and rate design changes as proposed or as modified by this decision.
- PG&E and SCE shall propose to the Commission's Public Advisor methods for informing customers about the end of the rate freeze.
- PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E shall use the System Average Percent (SAP) method for allocating the CTC on an interim basis pending a final decision in Phase 2.
- PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E shall create accounting mechanisms for energy purchases from the Independent System Operation and PX, purchases which the Commission will continue to oversee unless the Commission determines otherwise.
- PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E shall continue to purchase all energy supplies from and sell all energy supplies to the PX unless the Commission determines otherwise.

• SCE, SDG&E, and PG&E shall state separately in their respective tariffs the portion of the post-transition CTC that is related to the refund of transition cost overcollections.

3. Except on set forth herein, the provisions of D.99-05-051 are adopted as final.

4. The Commission's Energy Division will verify the balances of relevant accounts in order to confirm each utility's date for ending the rate freeze.

This order is effective today.

Dated October 21, 1999, at San Francisco, California.

RICHARD A. BILAS President HENRY M. DUQUE JOSIAH L. NEEPER JOEL Z. HYATT CARL W. WOOD Commissioners

APPENDIX A

Last updated on 20-OCT-1999 by: SMJ A9901016 LIST A9901019/A9901034/A99020 29

Marc D. Joseph Attorney At Law ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO 651 GATEWAY BLVD., SUITE 900 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

James Weil AGLET CONSUMER ALLIANCE PO BOX 1599 FORESTHILL CA 95631 (530) 367-3300 jweil@aglet.org For: Self

Daniel W. Douglass Attorney At Law ARTER & HADDEN LLP 725 S. FIGUEROA STREET, 34TH FLOOR LOS ANGELES CA 90017-5418 (213) 430-3343 douglass@arterhadden.com For: ALLIANCE OF RETAIL MARKETS and WESTERN POWER TRADING FORUM

Freya Christian ARTER & HADDEN, LLP 725 S. FIGUEROA ST., SUITE 3400 LOS ANGELES CA 90017 (213) 430-3359 fchristi@arterhadden.com For: RELIANT ENERGY RETAIL, INC.

Robert Berry AUTOMATED POWER EXCHANGE 10455 BANDLEY DRIVE, STE 3 CUPERTINO CA 95014 (408) 517-2109 berry@apx.com For: AUTOMATED POWER EXCHANGE

Barbara R. Barkovich BARKOVICH AND YAP, INC. 31 EUCALYPTUS LANE SAN RAFAEL CA 94901 (415) 457-5537 brbarkovich@earthlink.net For: California Large Energy Consumers Association (CLECA)

Reed V. Schmidt BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES 1636 BUSH STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94109 (415) 775-3113 bwa@slip.net For: California City County Streetlight Association (CAL-SLA) Marco Gomez Office Of The General Counsel BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 800 MADISON STREET, 5TH FLOOR OAKLAND CA 94607 (510) 464-6058 mgomez1@bart.gov For: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit

Edwin J. Bouillon Attorney At Law CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET, MS-14 SACRAMENTO CA 95814-5512 (916) 654-3855 ebouillo@energy.state.ca.us For: CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION

Karen Norene Mills Attorney At Law CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION 2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE SACRAMENTO CA 95833 (916) 561-5655 kmills@cfbf.com For: California Farm Bureau Federation

Lisa G. Urick Attorney At Law CALIFORNIA POWER EXCHANGE 200 S. LOS ROBLES AVE., STE 400 PASADENA CA 91101 (626) 537-3328 lgurick@calpx.com For: CALIFORNIA POWER EXCHANGE

Theresa Mueller Deputy City Attorney CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 1 DR. CARLTON B. GOODLETT PLACE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 554-4640 theresa_mueller@ci.sf.ca.us For: City & County of San Francisco

Andrew J. Skaff Attorney At Law CROSBY HEAFEY ROACH & MAY 1999 HARRISON STREET, OAKLAND CA 94612-3573 (510) 466-6858 askaff@chrm.com For: New York Mercantile Exchange & Dynegy, Inc.

Patrick Mcguire CROSSBORDER SERVICES 2560 NINTH STREET, SUITE 316 BERKELEY CA 94710 (510) 649-9790 patrickm@crossborderenergy.com For: Watson Cogeneration Company

Audrey J. Van Dyke DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY 1013 D STREET, S.E., SUITE 340 WASHINGTON DC 20374-5051 (202) 685-1931 For: FEDERAL EXECUTIVE AGENCIES

Norman J. Furuta Attorney At Law DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY 900 COMMODORE DRIVE, BLDG. 107 SAN BRUNO CA 94066-5006 (650) 244-2100 furutanj@efawest.navfac.navy.mil For: Federal Executive Agencies

Philip A. Stohr DAN L. CARROLL, ATTORNEY AT LAW Attorney At Law DOWNEY, BRAND, SEYMOUR & ROHWER 555 CAPITOL MALL, 10TH FLOOR SACRAMENTO CA 95814-4686 (916) 441-0131 pstohr@dbsr.com For: California Industrial Users (CIU)

Andrew Brown Attorney At Law ELLISON & SCHNEIDER 2015 H STREET SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 447-2166 abb@eslawfirm.com For: California Dept. General Services

Carolyn Kehrein ENERGY MANAGEMENT SERVICES 1505 DUNLAP COURT DIXON CA 95620-4208 (707) 678-9506 cmkehrein@ems-ca.com For: Energy Users Forum

Patrick Mcdonnell ENSERCH ENERGY SERVICES SUITE 240 900 LARKSPUR LANDING CIRCLE LARKSPUR CA 94939 (415) 461-5820 pmcdonnell@eesinc.com For: Enserch Energy Services

Gary B. Ackerman FOOTHILL SERVICES, INC. 340 AUGUST CIRCLE MENLO PARK CA 94025 For: Western Power Trading Forum

Jeanne M. Bennett Attorney At Law GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI RITCHIE & DAY LLP 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 jbennett@gmssr.com For: Alliance for Retail Markets and Enron Corporation Richard H. Counihan GREEN MOUNTAIN ENERGY RESOURCES 50 CALIFORNIA STREET, SUITE 1500 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 439-5310 rick.counihan@greenmountain.com For: GREEN MOUNTAIN ENERGY RESOURCES

Jody S. London GRUENEICH RESOURCE ADVOCATES 582 MARKET STREET, SUITE 1020 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 834-2300 jlondon@gralegal.com

Jeff Nahigian Senior Economist JBS ENERGY, INC. 311 D STREET, SUITE A WEST SACRAMENTO CA 95605 (916) 372-0534 jeff@jbsenergy.com For: The Utility Reform Network (TURN)

Edward W. O'Neill Attorney At Law JEFFER, MANGELS, BUTLER & MARMARO, LLP ONE SANSOME STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 398-8080 ewo@jmbm.com For: CALIFORNIA POWER EXCHANGE

 Norman A. Pedersen Esquire JONES DAY REAVES & POGUE
555 WEST FIFTH STREET, SUITE 4600 LOS ANGELES CA 90013-1025 (213) 243-2810 napedersen@jonesday.com
For: Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Automated Power Exchange Inc.

Bill Julian 1127 11TH STREET, SUITE 226 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 For: Self

Ron Knecht 1465 MARLBAROUGH AVENUE LOS ALTOS CA 94024-5742 (650) 968-0115 ronknecht@aol.com For: SELF

William H. Booth LAW OFFICES OF WILLIAM H. BOOTH 1500 NEWELL AVENUE, 5TH FLOOR WALNUT CREEK CA 94596 (925) 296-2460 wbooth@booth-law.com For: California Large Energy Consumers Assn.

************ SERVICE LIST ***************

Steven Moss M.CUBED 849 SANCHEZ STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94114 (415) 643-9578 smoss@hooked.net For: WESTERN MOBILHOME PARK ASSOCIATION

David J. Byers Attorney At Law MCCRACKEN & BYERS 840 MALCOLM ROAD, SUITE 100 BURLINGAME CA 94010 (650) 259-5979 mcbyer@earthlink.net For: California City County Streetlight Association (CAL-SLA)

Patricia R. Williams MERVYN'S CALIFORNIA 22301 FOOTHILL BOULEVARD HAYWARD CA 94541 (510) 727-5905 pat.williams@dhcmail.com For: Mervyn's/Target Stores Division of Dayton Hudson Corporation

Christopher J. Mayer MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT PO BOX 4060 MODESTO CA 95352-4060 (209) 526-7430 chrism@mid.org For: Modesto Irrigation District

Peter W. Hanschen Attorney At Law MORRISON & FOERSTER, LLP 425 MARKET STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 268-7214 phanschen@mofo.com For: NEW WEST ENERGY CORPORATION

Aaron Thomas NEW ENERGY VENTURES, INC. 1000 WILSHIRE BOULEVARD, SUITE 1900 LOS ANGELES CA 90017 (213) 996-6136 athomas@newenergy.com For: New Energy Ventures, Inc.

William H. Edwards KELLY M. MORTON Attorney At Law PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC CO. 77 BEALE STREET, S.F., CA 94105 PO BOX 7442, RM 3115-B30A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120-7442 (415) 973-2768 whel@pge.com For: PG&E Joan Searls PG&E ENERGY SERVICES CORPORATION 345 CALIFORNIA STREET, 26TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 733-4747 peter.bray@pgees.com For: PG&E Energy Services Corporation

Keith Sappenfield RELIANT ENERGY RETAIL, INC. PO BOX 1409 HOUSTON TX 77251-1409 (713) 207-5570 keith-sappenfield@reliantenergy.com For: Reliant Energy Retail, Inc.

Randy Britt ROBINSONS-MAY 6160 LAUREL CANYON BLVD. NORTH HOLLYWOOD CA 91606 (818) 509-4777 randy.britt@mayco.com For: Robinsons-May

Arlin Orchard Attorney At Law SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT PO BOX 15830, MAIL STOP-B406 SACRAMENTO CA 95852-1830 (916) 732-5830 aorchard@smud.org For: Sacramento Municipal Utility District

Phillip J. Muller SCD ENERGY SOLUTIONS 436 NOVA ALBION WAY SAN RAFAEL CA 94903 (415) 479-1710 pjmuller@ricochet.net For: Southern Company Energy Marketing

Keith W. Melville DAVID R. CLARK Attorney At Law SEMPRA ENERGY 101 ASH STREET SAN DIEGO CA 92101-3017 (619) 699-5039 kmelville@sempra.com For: San Diego Gas & Electric Company

Ann P. Cohn JIM LEHRER Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-2211 cohnap@sce.com For: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON

Christine Costa Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-3102 costac@sce.com For: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

*************** SERVICE LIST *************

James M. Lehrer CHRISTINE COSTA Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-3252 lehrerjm@sce.com For: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

James Bushee SUTHERLAND, ASBILL & BRENNAN 1275 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE WASHINGTON DC 20004 (202) 383-0100 jbushee@sablaw.gov For: CALIFORNIA MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION (CMA)

Keith Mc Crea Attorney At Law SUTHERLAND, ASBILL & BRENNAN 1275 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE, N.W., STE. 600 WASHINGTON DC 20004-2404 (202) 383-0705 kmccrea@sablaw.com For: California Manufacturers Association

Gene L. Waas THE CALIFORNIA POWER EXCHANGE 1000 SOUTH FREMONT BUILDING A9 WEST ALHAMBRA CA 91803 (626) 537-3326 glwaas@calpx.com For: The California Power Exchange

Robert Finkelstein Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 711 VAN NESS AVE., SUITE 350 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 929-8876 X-301 bfinkelstein@turn.org For: The Utility Reform Network (TURN)

Michael Shames Attorney At Law UTILITY CONSUMERS' ACTION NETWORK 1717 KETTNER BLVD., SUITE 105 SAN DIEGO CA 92101-2532 (619) 696-6966 mshames@ucan.org For: Utility Consumers' Action Network (UCAN)

Jerry Bloom Administ MARGARET ROSTKER (EMAIL: ROSTKMA@LAWHITECASE.COM) RM. 5115 Attorney At Law 505 VAN 1 WHITE & CASE SAN FRAM TWO EMBARCADERO CENTER, SUITE 650 (415) 70 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 kim@cpuc (415) 544-1104 bloomje@la.whitecase.com Angela K For: California Cogeneration Council Angela K

Jason J. Zeller Legal Division RM. 5002 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-4673 jjz@cpuc.ca.gov For: Office of Ratepayer Advocates

Lorenzo Kristov CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH ST., MS-22 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4773 LKristov@energy.state.ca.us For: California Energy Commission

Ruben Tavares Electricity Analysis Office CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET, MS 20 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-5171 RTavares@energy.state.ca.us For: California Energy Commission

Robert T. Feraru Public Advisor Office RM. 5303 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-2074 rtf@cpuc.ca.gov For: Public Advisor's Office

Faline Fua Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-2481 fua@cpuc.ca.gov

Kerry T. Hattevik Energy Division RM. 4102 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-2317 kth@cpuc.ca.gov

Kim Malcolm Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5115 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1926 kim@cpuc.ca.gov

Angela K. Minkin Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5116 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1573 ang@cpuc.ca.gov

Barbara Ortega Executive Division RM. 5109 320 WEST 4TH STREET SUITE 500 LOS ANGELES CA 90013 (213) 576-7070 bho@cpuc.ca.gov

James E. Price Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4101 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1797 jep@cpuc.ca.gov

Zenaida G. Tapawan-Conway Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-2624 ztc@cpuc.ca.gov

Rosalina White Public Advisor Office RM. 5303 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1647 raw@cpuc.ca.gov For: PUBLIC ADVISOR'S OFFICE

David Marcus ADAMS BROADWELL & JOSEPH PO BOX 1287 BERKELEY CA 94701-1287 (510) 528-0728 dmarcus@slip.net For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

Katherine S. Poole ADAMS BROADWELL & JOSEPH 651 GATEWAY BLVD., SUITE 900 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 kpoole@adamsbroadwell.com

James Weil AGLET CONSUMER ALLIANCE PO BOX 1599 FORESTHILL CA 95631 (530) 367-3300 jweil@aglet.org

Michael Alcantar Attorney ALCANTAR & ELSESSER 1300 SW FIFTH, SUITE 1750 PORTLAND OR 97201 (503) 402-8700 mpa@aelaw.com For: Cogeneration Association of California Ed Cazalet AUTOMATED POWER EXCHANGE, INC. 10455-3 BANDLEY DR. CUPERTINO CA 95014 (408) 517-2900 ed@apx.com For: Automated Power Exchange, Inc.

Marco Gomez Office Of The General Counsel BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 800 MADISON STREET, 5TH FLOOR OAKLAND CA 94607 (510) 464-6058 mgomezl@bart.gov

Scott Blaising Attorney At Law BRAUN & ASSOCIATES 8980 MOONEY ROAD ELK GROVE CA 95624 (916) 682-9702 blaising@jps.net

Maurice Brubaker BRUBAKER & ASSOCIATES, INC. 1215 FERN RIDGE PARKWAY, STE 208 ST. LOUIS MO 63141 (314) 275-7007 mbrubaker@consultbai.com For: Brubaker & Associates, Inc.

Stephen Layman CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION, EIAD 1516 9TH STREET, MS-20 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4845 Slayman@energy.state.ca.us

Derk Pippin CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 9 ROSCOE STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94110-5921 (415) 824-3222 derkp@newsdata.com For: CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS (CEM)

J. A. Savage CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 3006 SHEFFIELD AVENUE OAKLAND CA 94602-1545 (510) 534-9109 honest@compuserve.com For: California Energy Markets

Ronald Liebert Attorney At Law CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION 2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE SACRAMENTO CA 95833 (916) 561-5657 .rliebert@cfbf.com

William Dombrowski CALIFORNIA RETAILERS ASSOCIATION 980 9TH STREET, SUITE 2100 SACRAMENTO CA 95814-2741 (916) 443-1975

(END OF APPENDIX A)

~

APPENDIX B

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Application of Pacific Gas and Electric Company for Authority to Establish Post-Transition Period Electric Ratemaking Mechanisms (U 39-E)) Application of San Diego Gas & Electric Company for Authority to Implement Post Rate Freeze Ratemaking Mechanics (U 902-M) Application of Southern California Edison Company (U 388-E) to: (1) Propose a Method to Determine and Implement the end of the rate Freeze; and (2) Propose Ratemaking Mechanisms Which Would Be In Place After the End of the Rate Freeze Period. Application of San Diego Gas & Electric Company: (1) Informing the Commission of the Probable Timing of the End of its Electric Rates Through Implementation of Interim Ratemaking Mechanisms Concurrent with Termination of the Electric Rate Freeze, and (3) for Authorization to Change Electric Rates by Adding New, and Revising or Terminating Existing, Rate and Rate Mechanisms and Rate Designs (U 902 E)

Application No. 99-01-016

Application No. 99-01-019

Application No. 99-01-034

Application No. 99-02-029

STIPULATION ON THE METHOD OF DETERMINING THE END OF THE RATE FREEZE FOR SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

The parties to this Stipulation are Southern California Edison Company ("SCE"), Alliance for Retail Markets ("ARM")¹, the Federal Executive Agencies

¹ The Alliance for Retail Markets is comprised of Enron Corp., Green Mountain Energy Resources, LLC, New Energy Ventures, LLC, and PG&E Energy Service Corporation. ("FEA"), California Industrial Users ("CIU"), California Large Energy Consumers Association ("CLECA"), California Manufacturers Association ("CMA"), California Retailers Association ("CRA"), Commonwealth Energy Corp. ("Commonwealth") and Western Power Trading Forum ("WPTF"). SCE, ARM, FEA, CIU, CLECA, CMA, CRA, Commonwealth and WPTF are referred to herein collectively as "the Parties".

WHEREAS SCE filed its Application (A. 99-01-034) to, among other things: (1) propose a method to determine and implement the end of the rate freeze; (2) propose ratemaking mechanisms which would be in place after the end of the rate freeze period; (3) have the California Public Utilities Commission ("Commission") adopt certain criteria for determining the end of the rate freeze for SCE; and (4) have the Commission approve procedures for implementing the end of the rate freeze; and

WHEREAS SCE proposed to determine the end of the rate freeze for SCE on an after-the-fact basis; and

WHEREAS various parties to this stipulation proposed or supported the use of a forecast method to determine the end of the rate freeze for SCE; and

WHEREAS the Parties submitted direct and rebuttal testimony with respect to their proposed criteria for determining the end of the rate freeze for SCE and other issues, including recommending mechanisms for providing notice to consumers of the end of the rate freeze, and returning any overcollection in SCE's Transition Cost Balancing Account ("TCBA") to customers; and

WHEREAS the Parties have engaged in discussions with respect to their various proposals for ending the rate freeze for SCE in an effort to identify areas of agreement among them; and

WHEREAS the Parties held a Stipulation Conference, noticed by SCE and ARM in compliance with Rule 51.1(b) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Commission, at 11:00 a.m. on Monday, May 17, 1999, in the Commission's Hearing Room D, located at 505 Van Ness Avenue, San Francisco, California, 94102; and

WHEREAS, as a result of these discussions the Parties have identified several items of agreement with respect to their various proposals for ending the rate freeze; and

WHEREAS the Parties are willing to modify their positions so as to enable them to jointly recommend to the Commission a single, acceptable proposal for determining the end of the rate freeze for SCE,

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree and stipulate as follows:

1. SCE will prepare and supply to all interested parties, on a quarterly basis, an End of Rate Freeze Matrix ("Matrix") similar to the one provided at the February 18, 1999 prehearing conference and marked as Exhibit 9 in this proceeding. The Matrix will estimate, by quarter, when the rate freeze period will end as to SCE given certain assumptions regarding the weighted average cost of PX energy and market valuation and will reflect the latest available recorded data. Consistent with Exhibit 9, SCE will use 2.5, 3.0, 3.5 and 4.0 c/kWh as the range for PX energy cost prices and assumed market valuation of SCE's remaining generation assets at one, two, and three times book value. SCE will modify these assumptions if they become invalid due to changed conditions. SCE will provide the quarterly Matrix 30 days following the end of each quarter commencing with the Commission's decision in Phase I of this proceeding.

2. Commencing at such time as either (1) the market valuation of SCE's remaining generation assets is known or can be estimated with reasonable certainty, or (2) SCE begins to record costs in the Accelerated Costs Account of its TCBA, SCE will prepare and supply to all interested parties, on a monthly basis, a Matrix which estimates the month in which the rate freeze in SCE's service territory will end. SCE will provide the monthly Matrix 30 days following the end of each month.

3. SCE will file a single post-transition advice filing to end the rate freeze in its service territory five days following the date upon which all the criteria for ending the rate freeze as to SCE have been satisfied. The parties to this stipulation agree that the criteria for determining the end of the rate freeze for SCE should be:

- A. The balance in the TRA is zero (or undercollected in accordance with the conditions set forth in paragraph 6 below);
- B. The balance in the TCBA is overcollected;
- C. All generation-related sunk costs are recovered;
- D. All generation-related regulatory assets are recovered; and
- E. SCE's remaining generation-related assets are market valued (the parties to this stipulation do not intend to resolve the issue of which methodology will be used to determine market valuation).

The Parties jointly advocate that the Commission expedite the review and approval of SCE's post-transition rates such that approval is provided as early as one day following but no later than 30 days after SCE submits the advice filing. In order to facilitate this expedited review and approval, within 60 days following a decision in Phase I of the Post Transition Ratemaking proceeding, SCE will provide draft tariff language, including sample calculations of its new post transition rates, prelimiary statement language and tariff provisions, to the Commission's Energy Division. SCE will put these new rates into effect upon authorization from the Commission after review by the Commission's Energy Division.

4. SCE will return all over-collections of generation-related transition costs recorded in the TCBA which result from an "after-the-fact" determination of the end of the rate freeze to customers. The overcollection will be returned to customers within the period between the date that the new post transition rates go into effect and the next regularly scheduled consolidated rate change unless this amortization period is not practical. In no case will this amortization period extend beyond one year following the date that SCE's post-transition rates go into effect. In the event that the Commission uses a different allocation method for ongoing transition costs than that presently being utilized during the transition period, SCE agrees that the return of the overcollection will be made using the same allocation method as was used for collection of transition costs during the rate freeze period.

)

5. SCE agrees to separately state in its tariff the portion of the posttransition CTC which is related to the refund of over-collections of transition costs.

6. If all other criteria to end the rate freeze period have been met and an undercollection exists in SCE's TRA, the rate freeze period may end provided that the Commission authorizes SCE to transfer the TRA undercollected balance to the modified TCBA or other authorized recovery mechanism.

7. ARM withdraws its recommendations set forth in Exhibit 23 (Prepared Direct Testimony on Behalf of the Alliance for Retail Markets), at section II(B), starting on page 8 and concluding on page 12 (with the exception of the first full paragraph on page 10 and continuing through the carryover paragraph on page 11) as they apply to SCE. In addition, ARM withdraws its recommendation stated in the sentence starting on the bottom of page 15 and continuing to the top of page 16 with respect to the use of an interim market valuation in the context of a forecasting methodology as it applies to SCE.

8. FEA withdraws its recommendations set forth in Exhibit 14 (Testimony and Exhibits of Ralph C. Smith), commencing at page 3, line 28, through page 4, line 4, which is the last question and answer under the heading "Criteria for Determining the End of the Rate Freeze" and commencing at page 7, line 22, through page 9, line 4, entitled "Notification of and Effective Date for the End of the Rate Freeze," as they apply to SCE. 9. CLECA, CMA and CRA withdraw their joint recommendations set forth in Exhibit 21 (Testimony of Dr. Barbara R. Barkovich), at pages 5 through 7 (Question and Answer 10), insofar as those recommendations apply to SCE.

)

10. WPTF withdraws its recommendations set forth in Exhibit 23 (Direct Testimony of the Western Power Trading Forum on Phase I of the Post Transition Rate Design – End of the Rate Freeze), commencing at page 2, line 10, through page 5, line 11, and page 7, lines 17 through 19, insofar as those recommendations apply to SCE.

11. The parties to the stipulation jointly advocate that the Commission approve the following ratemaking treatment for adjustments that occur in the post rate freeze period:

A. Amounts which impact all customers (i.e., both bundled service and direct access) should be adjusted and then recorded in the modified TCBA;

B. Amounts which impact only bundled service customers and which were not reflected in either the TRA or the PX Charge/Credit during the rate freeze period should be adjusted and reflected in the Purchased Electric Commodity Account or other authorized mechanism related to bundled service customers only; and

C. Amounts which were reflected in the TRA but not the PX Charge/Credit during the rate freeze period should be corrected by 1) providing a onetime PX credit true-up to direct access customers and 2) adjusting the modified TCBA to the extent that this true-up would have resulted in an increase or decrease to the amount of headroom calculated in the TRA during the rate freeze period.

12. The Parties agree jointly, and by executing and submitting this Stipulation to the Commission, that the agreement herein is just, fair, reasonable and in the public interest. The Parties acknowledge the value of including all active participants in this case in discussions regarding this Stipulation and have provided an opportunity for all active participants in this case to participate in the Stipulation via the Stipulation Conference.

13. This Stipulation reflects a compromise of the Parties and is, therefore, indivisible. The Stipulation represents the entire agreement among the Parties with reference to this matter and may not be modified except upon written agreement of the Parties. This Stipulation supercedes all prior agreements and understandings among the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Stipulation.

14. This Stipulation may be entered into in counterparts. Intending to be legally bound, the individuals executing this Stipulation represent and warrant that they have authority to execute this Stipulation on behalf of their respective entities and that, by executing this Stipulation, they intend to legally bind the Parties hereto.

Jeanne M. Bennett Goodin, MacBride, Squeri, Ritchie & Day, LLP Attorneys for Alliance for Retail Markets 505 Sansome Street Suite 900 San Francisco, California 94111 Telephone: (415) 392-7933 Facsimile: (415) 398-4321

Ann P. Cohn James M. Lehrer

Attorneys for Southern California Edison Company 2244 Wahnut Grove Avenue Post Office Box 800 Rosemead, California 91770 Telephone: (626) 302-3252 Facsimile: (626) 302-1935

Norman J. Furuta

Attorney for Federal Executive Agencies Office of Counsel Engineering Field Activity West Naval Facilities Engineering Command Telephone: (650) 244-2100 Facsimile: (650) 244-2140 Norman A. Pedersen

Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue

Attorney for Commonwealth Energy Corp. 555 West Fifth Street, Suite 4600 Los Angeles, California 90013-1025 Telephone: (213) 243-2810 Facsimile: (213) 243-2539 an opportunity for all active participants in this case to participate in the Stipulation via the Stipulation Conference.

13. This Stipulation reflects a compromise of the Parties and is, therefore, indivisible. The Stipulation represents the entire agreement among the Parties with reference to this matter and may not be modified except upon written agreement of the Parties. This Stipulation supercedes all prior agreements and understandings among the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Stipulation.

14. This Stipulation may be entered into in counterparts. Intending to be legally bound, the individuals executing this Stipulation represent and warrant that they have authority to execute this Stipulation on behalf of their respective entities and that, by executing this Stipulation, they intend to legally bind the Parties hereto.

Jeanne M. Bennett Goodin, MacBride, Squeri, Ritchie & Day, LLP Attorneys for Alliance for Retail Markets 505 Sansome Street Suite 900 San Francisco, California 94111 Telephone: (415) 392-7933 Facsimile: (415) 398-4321

Norman J. Furuta

Attorney for Federal Executive Agencies Office of Counsel Engineering Field Activity West Naval Facilities Engineering Command Telephone: (650) 244-2100 Facsimile: (650) 244-2140

Ann P. Cohn James M. Lehrer

Attorneys for Southern California Edison Company 2244 Walnut Grove Avenue Post Office Box 800 Rosemead, California 91770 Telephone: (626) 302-3252 Facsimile: (626) 302-1935

Norman A. Pedersen Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue Attorney for Commonwealth Energy Corp. 555 West Fifth Street, Suite 4600 Los Angeles, California 90013-1025 Telephone: (213) 243-2810 Facsimile: (213) 243-2539 an opportunity for all active participants in this case to participate in the Stipulation via the Stipulation Conference.

13. This Stipulation reflects a compromise of the Parties and is, therefore, indivisible. The Stipulation represents the entire agreement among the Parties with reference to this matter and may not be modified except upon written agreement of the Parties. This Stipulation supercedes all prior agreements and understandings among the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Stipulation.

14. This Stipulation may be entered into in counterparts. Intending to be legally bound, the individuals executing this Stipulation represent and warrant that they have authority to execute this Stipulation on behalf of their respective entities and that, by executing this Stipulation, they intend to legally bind the Parties hereto.

Jeanne M. Bennett Goodin, MacBride, Squeri, Ritchie & Day, LLP Attorneys for Alliance for Retail Markets 505 Sansome Street Suite 900 San Francisco, California 94111 Telephone: (415) 392-7933 Facsimile: (415) 398-4321

Norman I. Furnta

Attorney for Federal Executive Agencies Office of Counsel Engineering Field Activity West Naval Facilities Engineering Command Telephone: (650) 244-2100 Facsimile: (650) 244-2140 Ann P. Cohn James M. Lehrer

Attorneys for Southern California Edison Company 2244 Walnut Grove Avenue Post Office Box 800 Rosemead, California 91770 Telephone: (626) 302-3252 Facsimile: (626) 302-1935 3

Norman A. Pedersen

Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue

Attorney for Commonwealth Energy Corp. 555 West Fifth Street, Suite 4600 Los Angeles, California 90013-1025 Telephone: (213) 243-2810 Facsimile: (213) 243-2539 an opportunity for all active participants in this case to participate in the . Stipulation via the Stipulation Conference.

13. This Stipulation reflects a compromise of the Parties and is, therefore, indivisible. The Stipulation represents the entire agreement among the Parties with reference to this matter and may not be modified except upon written agreement of the Parties. This Stipulation supercedes all prior agreements and understandings among the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Stipulation.

14. This Stipulation may be entered into in counterparts. Intending to be legally bound, the individuals executing this Stipulation represent and warrant that they have authority to execute this Stipulation on behalf of their respective entities and that, by executing this Stipulation, they intend to legally bind the Parties hereto.

Jeanne M. Bennett Goodin, MacBride, Squeri, Ritchie & Day, LLP Attorneys for Alliance for Retail Markets 505 Sansome Street Suite 900 San Francisco, California 94111 Telephone: (415) 392-7933 Facsimile: (415) 398-4321

Norman J. Furuta

Attorney for Federal Executive Agencies Office of Counsel Engineering Field Activity West Naval Facilities Engineering Command Telephone: (650) 244-2100 Facsimile: (650) 244-2140 Ann P. Cohn James M. Lehrer

Attorneys for Southern California Edison Company 2244 Walnut Grove Avenue Post Office Box 800 Rosemead, California 91770 Telephone: (626) 302-3252 Facsimile: (626) 302-1935

Norman A. Pedersen

Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue Attorney for Commonwealth Energy Corp. 555 West Fifth Street, Suite 4600 Los Angeles, California 90013-1025 Telephone: (213) 243-2810 Facsimile: (213) 243-2539

Booth. ******

Sala Bartha Sala

William H. Booth Law Offices of William H. Booth Attorney for California Large Energy Consumers Association, the California Manufacturers Association, and the California Retailers Association

1500 Newell Avenue, 5th Floor Walnut Creek, California 94596 Telephone: (925) 296-2460 Facsimile: (925) 296-2464

** Executed by Christine Costa for William H. Booth pursuant to verbal authorization 5/20/99

Philip A. Stohr

) ·

Downey, Brand, Seymour & Rohwer Attorney for California Industrial Users 555 Capitol Mall, 10th Floor Sacramento, California 95814-4686 Telephone: (916) 441-0131 Facsimile: (916) 441-4021 Gary Ackerman

Executive Director

Attorney for Western Power Trading Forum 340 August Circle Menlo Park, California 94025 Telephone: (650) 324-3250 Facsimile: (650) 324-9350 William H. Booth

Law Offices of William H. Booth Attorney for California Large Energy Consumers Association, the California Manufacturers Association, and the California Retailers Association

1500 Newell Avenue, 5th Floor Walnut Creek, California 94596 Telephone: (925) 296-2460 Facsimile: (925) 296-2464

Daniel W. Douglass Arter & Hadden LLP Attorney for Western Power Trading Forum 725 South Figueroa Street, 34th Floor Los Angeles, California 90017 Telephone: (213) 430-3343 Facsimile: (213) 617-9255

Philip A. Stohr

Downey, Brand, Seymour & Rohwer Attorney for California Industrial Users 555 Capitol Mall, 10th Floor Sacramento, California 95814-4686 Telephone: (916) 441-0131 Facsimile: (916) 441-4021

Ng na g

San Francisco, California 94111 Telephone: (415) 392-7933 Facsimile: (415) 398-4321

Norman J. Furuta

)

Attorney for Federal Executive Agencies Office of Counsel Engineering Field Activity West Naval Facilities Engineering Command Telephone: (650) 244-2100 Facsimile: (650) 244-2140 Post Office Box 800 Rosemead, California 91770 Telephone: (626) 302-3252 Facsimile: (626) 302-1935

3

Norman A. Pedersen

Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue Attorney for Commonwealth Energy Corp. 555 West Fifth Street, Suite 4600 Los Angeles, California 90013-1025 Telephone: (213) 243-2810 Facsimile: (213) 243-2539

William H. Booth

Law Offices of William H. Booth Attorney for California Large Energy Consumers Association, the California Manufacturers Association, and the California Retailers Association 1500 Newell Avenue, 5th Floor Walnut Creek, California 94596 Telephone: (925) 296-2460 Facsimile: (925) 296-2464

Philip A. Stohr

Downey, Brand, Seymour & Rohwer Attorney for California Industrial Users 555 Capitol Mall, 10th Floor Sacramento, California 95814-4686 Telsphone: (916) 441-0131 Facsimile: (916) 441-4021

Gary Ackerman

Executive Director

Attorney for Western Power Trading Forum 340 August Circle Menlo Park, California 94025 Telephone: (650) 324-3250 Facsimile: (650) 324-9350